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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION

GATEWAY BUICK GMC, LLC §
Plaintiff, §
§

\A § Civil Action No. :
§
KEN BEHLMANN AUTOMOTIVE §
SERVICES, INC. d/b/a GATEWAY §
BUICK GMC §
Defendant. §

GATEWAY BUICK GMC, LLC’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Gateway Buick GMC, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, seeks injunctive
and monetary relief from Defendant Ken Behlmann Automotive Services, Inc. d/b/a Gateway
Buick GMC (“Defendant”) for trademark dilution, trademark infringement and unfair
competition with regard to Gateway’s trademark right to the service mark “Gateway.”

On April 3, 2012, Gateway registered the service mark “Gateway” with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office under Registration No. 4,120,425 (“Gateway Mark™). Gateway
owns and operates a Buick GMC dealership in Dallas, Texas. A little over a year after Gateway
registered its mark and began using it, Defendant adopted and began using the Gateway Mark to
operate a Buick GMC dealership it owns in St. Louis, Missouri. Defendant marketed its
dealership online under the Gateway Mark and even coded its online search engine to pick up
searches of “Gateway Dallas.” Defendant knew or should have known at the time it began using
the Gateway Mark that there already existed a Gateway Buick GMC in Dallas and that it owned
and used the Gateway Mark. Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark to attract customers, dilutes
Gateway’s use of the Gateway Mark and creates confusion as to the source or affiliation of

Gateway’s business, particularly over the internet. Defendant has thereby committed and
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continues to commit trademark dilution and infringement as well as unfair competition in
violation of Sections 43(c), 32 and 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1114, 11254(a) and
(¢), the Texas Anti-Dilution Statute, TEX. Bus. & CoM. CODE ANN. § 16.103, and Texas common
law.
I. PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Gateway Buick GMC, LLC (“Gateway”) is a Texas limited liability company
with its principal place of business located in Dallas County, Texas and may be served through
its attorney of record.
2. Defendant Ken Behlmann Automotive Services, Inc. d/b/a Gateway Buick GMC
(“Defendant”) a Missouri corporation with its principal place of business located at 820
McDonnell Blvd., St. Louis, MO 63042. Defendant may be served with process by delivering a
copy of this Complaint along with a citation to Defendant’s registered agent Spenserv-St. Louis,
Inc., located at 1 North Brentwood Blvd., Suite 1000, Clayton MO 63105.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over Gateway’s claims pursuant to the
Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq,; and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. The Court has
supplemental jurisdiction over the Texas state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because
such claims are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case or
controversy and derive from a common nucleus of operative facts.
4, This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it has established minimum
contacts with this forum by regularly and continuously conduction business within this judicial
district by, among other things, marketing, advertising, offering to sell and targeting customers in

this judicial district, including the sales of automobiles that is the subject of this Complaint.
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Additionally, this Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it has committed
tortious acts that have caused injury within this State and within the jurisdictional district, and
the claims alleged arise out of such tortious acts.
5. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) because
the claims alleged in the Complaint arose, in part, in this judicial district and because this Court
has personal jurisdiction over Defendant in this district.

III. FACTS
6. Gateway owns and operates an automobile dealership located in Dallas, Texas, that sells
and services Buick and GMC vehicles. On April 3, 2012, in connection with its automobile
dealership business, Gateway registered the Gateway Mark with the United States Patent and
Trademark Office under Registration No. 4,120,425.
7. Defendant owns and operates an automobile dealership located in St. Louis, Missouri,
Texas, that sells and services Buick and GMC vehicles. Until April 2013, Defendant’s dealership
was known as “St. Louis Buick GMC.” A little over a year ago, in late April 2013, over a year
after Gateway registered the Gateway Mark, Defendant adopted and began using the name
Gateway Mark. At that time, Defendant knew or should have known about Gateway in Dallas
and that it had registered the Gateway Mark. A simple internet search or inquiry to the
automobile manufacturer, Buick GMC, would have revealed the existence of Gateway and its
trademark.
8. Defendant uses the Gateway Mark as part of its trademark. It advertises the term
“Gateway” online, violating both trademark and copyright laws. Defendant advertises nationally
over the internet. It has improperly purchased and used similar domain names, targeting

searches to redirect traffic from Gateway to Defendant’s dealership, and is actively trying to
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profit from Gateway’s brand and marketing efforts. Defendant is clearly trying to capitalize on
the Gateway Mark.

9. Moreover, Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark causes confusion between the two
dealerships. Gateway receives several internet inquiries and calls each week from customers
who have confused the two dealerships because of Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark.
Defendant’s internet advertisements pop up on computers across the Dallas area including the
computers of the employees who work at Gateway. Defendant’s inappropriate use of Gateway’s
federally protected mark to market and sale the identical products Gateway markets and sells is
likely to cause and has already caused significant confusion.

10.  The Gateway Mark is arbitrary and not descriptive. The term, as used in Gateway’s
business, does not describe anything geographically associated with the goods and services it
sells.

11.  Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark has been done and is done with the intent to cause
confusion as to the course and affiliation of Defendant’s products and services.

12.  Defendant has misappropriated Gateway’s substantial property rights in the Gateway
Mark, as well as the substantial goodwill associated therewith. Unless restrained and enjoined
by this Court, such conduct will permit Defendant to gain an unfair competitive advantage and
permit Defendant to enjoy the interest and marketing of Gateway.

13.  If Defendant is permitted to continue using, promoting, marketing, advertising,
distributing and selling automobiles and automobile services using the Gateway Mark, its actions

will continue to cause irreparable injury to Gateway and its good will and business reputation.
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IV. Count One
Federal Trademark Infringement

14.  Gateway incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1-
13 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

15. Defendant’s acts set forth herein constitute infringement of Gateway’s federally
registered mark in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

16. Defendant’s acts complained of herein have been deliberate, willful, intentional, or in bad
faith, with full knowledge and conscious disregard of Gateway’s rights in the Gateway Mark,
and with intent to cause confusion and to trade on Gateway’s vast goodwill in the Gateway
Mark. In light of Defendant’s egregious infringement and refusal to discontinue such
infringement, this is an exceptional case within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

17.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s infringing and unlawful acts, Gateway
has suffered and will continue to suffer damages in an amount that is not presently ascertainable,
but will be established at trial.

18.  Unless enjoined by this Court, the acts of Defendant complained of herein will cause
Gateway to suffer irreparable harm for which there is not adequate remedy at law.

V. Count Two
Trademark Dilution — Lanham Act § 43(c), 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)

19.  Gateway incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1-
18 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

20.  The Gateway mark was registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office on
April 3, 2012, entitled it to protection from federal trademark dilution.

21.  Gateway’s use of the Gateway Mark is widely recognized by the general public and has

acquired notoriety.
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22.  Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark began after the Gateway Mark was registered by
Gateway and after the Gateway Mark became widely recognized.

23. Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark is likely to dilute the distinctive quality of the
Gateway Mark and decrease the capacity of that mark to identify and distinguish Gateway’s
products and services, and it is likely to harm Gateway’s business reputation.

24.  The acts and omission complained of Defendant herein constitute a trademark dilution in
violation of Section 43(c) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c).

25.  The acts and omissions complained of Defendant herein were committed willingly, with
full knowledge of Gateway’s rights and with the intention of deceiving and misleading the public
and causing harm to Gateway.

26.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful acts, Gateway has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount that is not presently ascertainable, but will be
established at trial.

27.  Unless enjoined by this Court, the acts of Defendant complained of herein will cause
Gateway to suffer irreparable harm for which there is not adequate remedy at law.

VI. Count Three
(Texas Anti-Dilution Statute — TEX. BUS. & CoM. CODE § 16.03)

28. Gateway incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1-
27 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

29.  The Gateway Mark has been used for over a year, has achieved public recognition, and
has developed a secondary meaning.

30.  Throughout significant, long and continuous use in commerce, including commerce
within the State of Texas, the Gateway Mark has become and continues to be famous and

distinctive throughout the State of Texas.
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31.  Defendant’s use of the Gateway Mark began after the Gateway Mark was registered with
the United States Patent and Trademark Office and after the Gateway Mark had become famous
and distinctive.
32.  The use of the Gateway Mark, without authorization from Gateway, is likely to dilute the
distinctive quality of the Gateway Mark and to decrease the capacity of that mark to identify and
distinguish Gateway and its products and services, and is likely to cause harm to Gateway’s
business reputation.
33. The aforesaid acts of Defendant were committed willfully with full knowledge of
Gateway’s rights and with the intention of deceiving and misleading the public and causing harm
to Gateway.
34.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful acts, Gateway has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount that is not presently ascertainable, but will be
established at trial.
35.  Unless enjoined by this Court, the acts of Defendant complained of herein will cause
Gateway to suffer irreparable harm for which there is not adequate remedy at law.
VIIL. Count Four
Trademark Infringement and False Designation of Origin
Lanham Act § 43(a), 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)
36. Gateway incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1-
35 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.
37. Gateway’s use of the Gateway Mark predates any use by Defendant of that mark in the
United States.

38.  Defendant’s unauthorized use of the Gateway Mark is likely to cause confusion, mistake,

or deception among consumers or potential customers as to the source and origin of Defendant’s
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products and services and the sponsorship or endorsement of those products and services by
Defendant.

39.  Defendant’s unauthorized use of the Gateway Mark is likely to cause confusion, mistake,
or deception among consumers or potential customers as to the source and origin of Gateway’s
products and services and the sponsorship or endorsement of those products and services by
Gateway.

40.  The aforesaid acts of Defendant constitute trademark infringement, false designation or
origin, and false and misleading description and representations in violation of Section 43(a) of
the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).

41.  The acts of Defendant set forth herein were committed willingly, with full knowledge of
Gateway’s rights, and with the intention of deceiving and misleading the public and causing
harm to Gateway.

42.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful acts, Gateway has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount that is not presently ascertainable, but will be
established at trial.

43.  Unless enjoined by this Court, the acts of Defendant complained of herein will cause
Gateway to suffer irreparable harm for which there is not adequate remedy at law.

VIII. Count Five
Trademark Infringement — Texas Common Law

44,  Gateway incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1-
43 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

45.  Gateway’s use of the Gateway Mark predates any alleged use by Defendant of that mark
in the United States.

46.  The aforesaid acts constitute trademark infringement in violation of common law.
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47.  The acts of Defendant set forth herein were committed willingly, with full knowledge of
Gateway’s rights, and with the intention of deceiving and misleading the public and causing
harm to Gateway.

48.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful acts, Gateway has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount that is not presently ascertainable, but will be
established at trial.

49.  Unless enjoined by this Court, the acts of Defendant complained of herein will cause
Gateway to suffer irreparable harm for which there is not adequate remedy at law.

IX. Count Six
Unfair Competition — Texas Common Law

50.  Gateway incorporates by reference each and every allegation contained in Paragraphs 1-
49 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

51.  The aforesaid acts of Defendant constitute unfair competition in violation of the common
law.

52.  The acts of Defendant set forth herein were committed willingly, with full knowledge of
Gateway’s rights, and with the intention of deceiving and misleading the public and causing
harm to Gateway.

53.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful acts, Gateway has suffered and
will continue to suffer damages in an amount that is not presently ascertainable, but will be
established at trial.

54.  Unless enjoined by this Court, the acts of Defendant complained of herein will cause

Gateway to suffer irreparable harm for which there is not adequate remedy at law.
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X. Prayer for Relief

WHEREFORE, Gateway Buick GMC, LLC, requests that judgment be entered in its
favor against Defendant as follows:

ks Defendant’s unauthorized use of the Gateway Mark is likely to dilute Gateway’s
distinctive Gateway Mark;

2 Defendant’s unauthorized use of the Gateway Mark infringes Gateway’s valid
intellectual property rights;

3. Defendant’s conduct was knowing, intentional and willing;

4, Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendant, its successors, officers,
agents and employees, and anyone acting in active concert or participating with or at the behest
or direction of any of them, from:

a. using (including, but not limited to, in connection with the promotion,
marketing, advertising and sales of products or services) the Gateway Mark, any
colorable imitation thereof, including but not limited to the word “Gateway”, or
any otherwise dilutive or confusingly similar word or mark in its store,
advertising of an kind and promotions;

b. doing any other act or thing likely to confuse, mislead or deceive others
into believing that Defendant, or its products and services are connected with,
sponsored by or approved by Gateway; and

c. engaging in any other activity constituting unfair competition with
Gateway or constitution an infringement of Gateway’s rights in and to the

Gateway Mark.
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5. Ordering that all signage, advertisements, labels, prints, packages, accessories or
any kind, license plates, and any other tangible items bearing the Gateqay Mark, or any colorable
imitation thereof, be destroyed, and that the Gateway Mark and any colorable imitations be
removed for all Internet websites, online advertising, marketing, promotions, search engines, or
other online materials, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 11189;

6. Ordering Defendant, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 116(1), to file with the Court and
serve on Gateway’s counsel within 30 days after service of this injunction, a written report,
sworn under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which Defendant has complied
with the injunction;

7. Directing an accounting to determine Defendant’s profits resulting from its
unlawful activities;

8. Awarding Gateway compensation for any and all damages, injury or harm;

9. Ordering full restitution or disgorgement of all profits and benefits that may have
been obtained by Defendant as a result of its wrongful conduct pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117,

10.  Awarding Gateway treble damages resulting from Defendant’s wilful and
intentional conduct pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and Texas law;

11.  Awarding Gateway punitive and exemplary damages as permitted by Texas law;

12.  Assessing Gateway’s attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in this action against
Defendant pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and Texas law; and

13.  Ordering or awarding any other such relief that the Court deems just and proper.

Demand for Jury Trial
Gateway hereby makes a demand pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b) for a

trial by jury on all issues triable to a jury.
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Dated this 17 day of January, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/Jennifer S. Stoddard

Jennifer S. Stoddard

State Bar No.: 19260650
Christopher B. Welsh

State Bar No.: 24049538
STODDARD & WELSH, PLLC
8150 N. Central Expressway

Suite 1150

Dallas, TX 75206

(214) 884-4900 - phone

(214) 884-4910 - fax

E-Mail: jstoddard@stoddardwelsh.com

Counsel for Plaintiff
Gateway Buick GMC, LLC
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